
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Performance/Administration 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Performance/Administration Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough 
Council are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the  on Thursday, 15 November 2018 
at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

3. To declare any interest Members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what their 
interest is. 

4. To considered whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Two 2018-19 (July – September 
2018) 

(Pages 9 - 20)

To present Members of the Performance and Administration Committee 
with an update against the Performance Management Framework, as set 
out within the council’s Corporate Plan 2015-19, for Quarter Two 2018-19 
(July – September 2018).



6. Corporate Register of Partnerships 2018-19 (Pages 21 - 32)

To inform Members of the Performance & Administration Committee of 
the council’s involvement in partnerships that are within the remit of the 
committee.

7. Universal Credit - Oral Update 

8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B 
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Derek Shelbrooke (Chair)
Cllr John Knight (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Rob Halpin
Gary Harding
Samir Jassal
Peter Scollard
Narinder Singh Thandi

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Performance & Administration Committee 

Monday, 17 September 2018                                 7:30pm    

Present:

Cllr Derek Shelbrooke (Chair)
Cllr John Knight (Vice-Chair) 

Cllrs: Brian Francis 
Rob Halpin 
Gary Harding 
Bronwen McGarrity 
Peter Scollard 
Narinder Thandi

Mike Bytheway 
James Larkin
Ben Turner 

Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) 
Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Corporate Performance Manager 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes)  

25. Apologies 

An apology of absence was received from Cllr Jordan Meade. Cllr Bronwen McGarrity 
substituted.  

26. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 05 July 2018 were signed by the Chair.

27. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made. 

28. Annual review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 

The Committee was provided with a copy of the annual review that has been conducted in 
respect of the Audit & Counter Fraud shared service with Medway Council. 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service outlined that since December 2015, the 
Council has had in place a shared service with Medway Council for the delivery of the Audit 
& Counter Fraud service. There were some challenges to the Service during the financial 
year that were reflected in the review, one of them being that two officers were on long term 
sick leave separately for six months each. Each officer is now back from leave and working 
full time within the service. 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service stated that the internal audit service was 
delivered with 91% plan completion (as at 31 March) for both authorities. While the Service 
fell short of its 95% target, the performance is still considered very good given the long term 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Performance/Administration Cabinet Committee 17.09.2018

2

sickness of two officers and staff turnover that left an officer and manager posts vacant for 
half the year.. 

An external Quality Assessment was completed by Gateway Assure in year and concluded 
that the service was performing in line with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS). Benchmarking provided showed that in relation to the three categories of 
measurement, the service was performing above the average for local government. While 
the assessment produced a positive outcome, there were some recommendations for 
improvement. An action plan was prepared to deal with the recommendations and this was 
endorsed by both the Finance & Audit Committee and the Audit Committee at Medway in 
June 2018.  

The Head of Audi & Counter Fraud Shared Service added that:

 Two officers completed professional qualifications during the year. One officer 
completed exams to qualify as a Chartered Internal Auditor and the other one passed 
their Level 4 AAT 

 After being appointed as the Head of Service, James Larkin’s old manager post was 
deleted as part of a restructure and a third team leader position was created. 

 The Team Leader posts were regraded from Range 5 to Range 6 (under Medpay 
Scheme) to address concerns raised in previous years review and to take account of 
delegated responsibilities added by the deletion of the Manager post.

 An intelligence analyst officer post was also created; that role will provide further 
resources for a more pro-active approach to identifying fraud and in turn will hopefully 
lead to an increase in the value of savings identified 

 The 2017 review had highlighted some pay disparity between the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Officers, which had been created by four separate job roles being moved into 
one new one. While all officers were on the same pay range, their level of pay within 
that range differed considerably due to their previous roles and with no incremental 
rises, would not catch up with colleagues. The lowest paid officers were increased to 
a minimum level to be comparable with colleagues.

 All of the changes were achieved within the existing budget and the overall costs of 
the service were under budget for 2017-18.

 One officer has taken flexible retirement from 01 September 2019; the reduction in 
hours and additional hours left by other part time officer means that there is one FTE 
post available. It is intended that recruitment will take place in early 2019 with a view 
to the officer being in post for 01 April 2019.

 The salary savings created by vacancies in 2018-19 will be used to fund an upgrade 
of the IT equipment to bring it into line with modern standards and create efficiencies 
within the service.

The Chair commended the team for the work that had been carried out throughout the year 
and thanked the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services for the informative update. 

29. Corporate Performance Update – Quarter One 2018-19 

Further to minute 23 (05/07/2018) the Corporate Performance Manager presented Members 
of the Performance and Administration Committee with an update against the Performance 
Management Framework, as set out within the council’s Corporate Plan 2015-19, for Quarter 
One 2018-19 (April to June 2018). 

Page 4



Performance/Administration Cabinet Committee 17.09.2018

3

The Corporate Performance Manager advised the Committee that it was a standard report 
that is brought to the Committee every quarter to update them on the performance of the 
work carried out within the Portfolio. He gave a brief overview of the layout and what the 
performance measures and performance indicators were as well as what they outlined in the 
report. 

The Chair advised that each policy commitment would be looked at giving officers a chance 
to update Members further on the work that was involved in calculating the performance 
results as well as feedback on the relevant departments. 

1. Underpin all council activity with sound governance and internal control 
measures minimising the opportunities for fraud and corruption

Performance Measure 41: Percentage of internal audit recommendations implemented

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services advised that it is the only PI the team 
has in place that he has no control over in terms of its end position. However the team do 
their utmost to follow up on the recommendations with senior management to ensure that 
they are being correctly implemented. A total of 36 recommendations were due to be 
implemented and, as of 30 June 2017, 10 of those remain outstanding; of those ten only  
number 6 on page 24 has been implemented: Enhancement to arrangements to ensure 
completeness of 2018/19 service plans and service risk register. 

Progress made towards implementing outstanding recommendations is monitored on a 
quarterly basis through reports to the council’s Management Team, with emails sent to 
department heads every month as well. Details of all recommendations agreed, 
implemented and outstanding are provided to the Council’s Finance & Audit Committee as 
part of the quarterly and annual A&CF update reports. Additionally, the Finance & Audit 
Committee has requested that any recommendations that are 6 months past their 
implementation date be flagged up to the Committee, and the relating officers attend to 
answer any questions. 

2. Quality frontline services delivered on time and to the right people

Performance Measure 11: Average time taken to process Housing Benefit/Council Tax new 
claims (days)

The Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) advised that, at the end of last year when the 
decision was taken not to progress the planned shared service arrangement, three staff left 
their posts. Those three staff were highly experienced and very difficult to replace; nationally 
there is a shortage of experienced Housing Benefit officers due to the implementation of 
Universal Credit. Staff feel they will eventually lose their jobs when full migration to UC 
occurs so they are moving onto other fields, because of that, trainees have had to be hired 
and trained up to fill those three vacant positions. The three trainees will become fully 
qualified but the length of training takes roughly six-nine months due to the complexity of the 
legislation. 

The Committee raised concern over the disappointing downturn and implored the officers to 
remember that there are people behind the numbers. Members did appreciate the difficult 
factors that the Team were facing but questioned what training they would be giving the new 
trainees. 

Page 5



Performance/Administration Cabinet Committee 17.09.2018

4

The Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) stated that there is a Training Officer within the 
team that would train them to a nationally accredited standard that brings them to the levels 
required to deal with the claims that Gravesham receives.  

The Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) highlighted some improved performance 
figures to the Committee: 

 Within the second quarter performance turned around; for July the average was just 
18.8 days and  18.7 days in August 

 Slowly but surely the average amount of days  will be reduced and the team fully  
expects to reach the target by the end of the year 

 It should be noted that Housing Benefit claims could potentially be completed a lot 
quicker but that relies on the claimants giving the team all the relevant information 
otherwise it delays it as officers have to chase the required information 

 To decrease the average day count and combat the lack of staff, agency staff have 
been temporarily hired and the staff are working overtime 

Performance Measure 12: Average time taken to process Housing Benefit / Council Tax 
change of circumstances (days) 

The Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) noted the Committee concerns over the rising 
figures each quarter and explained that it was also due to the lack of resources available. He 
also elaborated that even the claims that did not go to Universal Credit still required a lot of 
work as the Universal Credit service centre send  forms to complete which are very time 
consuming. 

The Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) did assure Members by reminding them that 
the national average was 22 days for New Claims and 8 days for Changes of Circumstances 
and that historically GBC’s performance has always been well under that; at the moment 
GBC is just currently experiencing the problem of lack of resources like many other local 
authorities. 

In response to a question on how many complaints have been received, the Service 
Manager (Revenues & Benefits) advised that the number was very little and he actually 
would have expected more. The performance of the team is still good compared to other 
Councils, however there is still much to improve upon to bring up the figures. 

3. Work to maximise income collection through the robust management and 
recovery of debts owed to the council

Performance Measure 9: Percentage of Council Tax collected

The Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) explained that the Council Tax figure does 
fluctuate month to month so the most important one is the year-end figure; the previous 
year’s 97% is a significant achievement for the authority, particularly given the impact of the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme and the ambition for 2018-19 is to achieve1 this high outturn 
again. 

Performance Measure 10: Percentage of NNDR collected

Page 6



Performance/Administration Cabinet Committee 17.09.2018

5

The Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) reported that the team did achieve an all-time 
high of 99% collection rate 2 years ago and currently the team are on track to reach the 
target of 98.5% this year. 

Performance Measure 42: Total amount of housing benefit overpayments raised

With regard to outside influences, the DWP send the team data matches and send over real 
time information such as customer earnings and pensions that fluctuate throughout the year 
etc. Individual claims have to be reassessed when that information is received; more benefit 
overpayments are always raised than can be recovered. A lot of the time the person does 
not have the money to pay it back so the money is not recovered initially. Another change 
that had a big impact on the performance of the service is Universal Credit; the 
overpayments cannot be recovered from claimants that have been transferred over to 
Universal Credit. 

Long term, Universal Credit is an ongoing programme and it will not be fully migrated until at 
least 2022; any new claimant will have to apply for Universal Credit now rather than Housing 
Benefit. A full report will be brought to the next Committee meeting to give Members a 
detailed update on the future of Universal Credit and its impact in Gravesham. 

4. Deliver on opportunities for the sharing and selling of council    
    services.

Performance Indicator 45: % of posts involved in shared service arrangements 

The Corporate Performance Manager stated that the 6% figure equated to 28 shared service 
posts within GBC. As part of the ‘Bridging the Gap’ activity MT will continue to analyse 
services and identify potential opportunities for services to be shared in the future. The new 
shared Licensing Service led by Mark Lees will hopefully become live later on this year. 

5. Continuously review and adapt how we deliver our services to achieve 
financial efficiencies and improved Performance

 
The Corporate Performance Manager advised that the ‘Bridging the Gap’ strategy was put in 
place to address the shortfall from the reduction in central government grant. A key part of 
the council’s strategy is the Service Review programme that had the target of identifying 
£1.4 million in savings by 2020. Over £1 million of savings has already been delivered and 
fully reflected in the council’s Medium Term Financial Plan.  

The Corporate Performance Manager stated that many of the easier savings had already 
been delivered and therefore the remaining £400K will involve more challenging areas for 
the council, such as the development of a commercial programme at Brookvale; a full 
monitoring report on progress against the remaining projects will be presented to Cabinet in 
January 2019. 

30. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair  
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

The Chair advised that the following topics would have detailed reports coming to the next 
Committee meeting on Thursday, 15 November 2018: 

Page 7



Performance/Administration Cabinet Committee 17.09.2018

6

 Universal Credit 
 General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 
 Citizens Access Portal 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8:10pm.  

Page 8



Performance Update: Quarter Two 2018-19 (July – September 2018)

Classification: Public 
  
Key Decision: No
 

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance and Administration Committee 

Date: 15 November 2018

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby – Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Two 2018-19
(July – September 2018)

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Performance and Administration Committee with an update 
against the Performance Management Framework, as set out within the council’s Corporate 
Plan 2015-19, for Quarter Two 2018-19 (July – September 2018).
 

Recommendations:

This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2015 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2015-19. The 
plan sets out the council’s vision for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and policy commitments that will shape the council’s 
activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council needs to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents.

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



Performance Update: Quarter Two 2018-19 (July – September 2018)

2. Performance Management Process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed decisions. The council’s PMF 
presents a range of performance information which includes;

 Performance Measures (PM):  These are target-based measures 
identified and established specifically for being essential to the delivery of 
the Corporate Plan’s key objectives e.g. waste recycling rates. 

 Performance Indicators (PI): These represent important contextual 
performance information related to the Corporate Plan’s key objectives. 
PI’s are not target based as the council, whilst having influence over their 
delivery, does not directly control their outcomes e.g. crime statistics.  

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members with an overview of the council’s 
performance against the Performance and Administration portfolio for Quarter 
Two 2018-19 (July – September 2018).   

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented in tabular form for all 
indicators and graphically for PMs. Where any PMs have not met their set target 
for the quarter, exception notes have been provided for review. In addition, for PIs 
the tables provide ‘direction of travel’ arrows to give Members an indication of 
progress made against the previous reporting period and the respective arrows 
are explained in the key below;

2.4 For future reference, equivalent performance reports will be presented to 
Members of the Committee on a quarterly basis.

2.5 This report is for information purposes only.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 10



Performance Update: Quarter Two 2018-19 (July – September 2018)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             APPENDIX 1 

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to delivery its responsibilities and delivers better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.  

Risk 
Assessment

Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives, and for 
residents it provides genuine accountability in how successfully the council is 
administering its resources.   

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

Question

a.Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have potential 
to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the community? 
If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b.Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above.

Corporate 
Plan

The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic vision and objectives for 
the authority over the 2015-19 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

All future committee reports will be presented in consideration of the new Corporate 
Plan.

Crime and 
Disorder

Community safety is an integral theme of new Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective 1: ‘a Safer Gravesham’.

Digital and 
website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to 'PI 49 - web self-help 
forms'. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

There are no implications in respect of safeguarding children and vulnerable adults.

It should be noted however, that the council's work in safeguarding children and 
vulnerable adults helps contribute towards delivering corporate objective 1: ‘a Safer 
Gravesham’ and corporate objective 2: ‘a Stronger Gravesham’.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Plan 2015-19: Annual Performance Report (2016-17) Delivering for the Community 00
Delivering for the Community

Performance and 
Administration 
Portfolio 

Performance Report 
Q2 2018/19

P
age 13



PI 41

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 64.3% 66.7% 79.8% 79.8% 72.2% 80.6%

Direction 
of Travel

Performance & Administration Portfolio: Cllr. D Shelbrooke

04 Sound & Self-sufficient
Council

"a well-run and innovative council supporting its staff to 
realise commercial opportunities whilst transforming its 
services to deliver at the best possible value for money" 

Policy Commitment 
1. Underpin all council activity with sound governance and internal control measures minimising the
     opportunities for fraud and corruption.
The mini restructure for the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud team undertaken at the beginning of the year is now complete, with a 
vacancy created by the promotion of one of the existing Officers to the new Team Leader post, being filled from 15 October 2018. 
Following the flexible retirement of one Officer from 1 September 2018, the team is now carrying a 1FTE vacancy created by three 
officers being part time, to be filled from 1 April 2019. 

Members of the Finance & Audit Committee have been presented with their first update for 2018-19, advising on progress of work 
against the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan; the second update, which covers the period up to 30  September 2018 is due to be 
presented at the November meeting of the Committee. Progress is being made in relation to the 2018-19 Plan, with a number of 
audits having been finalised and all bar two Q1 and Q2 audits having reached at least the fieldwork stage. 

A total of 67 recommendations were due to be implemented by the end of Q2 and as of 30 September 2018, 13 of these remained 
outstanding. 

Outstanding recommendations related to:
• Enhancements to the processes for monitoring planning conditions and obligations,
• Implementation of an updated Homelessness Strategy and review of the Private Housing Enforcement Policy and Customers 
Services and Access Strategy, 
• Enhancements to the management of security passes,
• The appointment of an Enforcement Agent to recover former tenant arears,
• Introduction of KPIs for Legal Services, 
• Redesigning of the Business Continuity Planning template, 
• Review of processes to monitor and encourage use of leased pool vehicles, 
• Review of arrangements for the use of petty cash, and, 
• Completion of work required to ensure PSN compliance. 

Progress made towards implementing outstanding recommendations is monitored on a quarterly basis, through reports to the 
council’s Management Team. Details of all recommendations agreed, implemented and outstanding are provided to the council’s 
Finance & Audit Committee as part of the quarterly and annual A&CF update reports, as well as updates on any recommendations 
still outstanding more than six months after the planned implementation date.

The pro-active exercise looking at identifying false student certificates has largely been concluded, a number of discrepancies were 
identified and these have progressed to investigations; the results of which have been detailed along with other cases. 
Opportunities for further data matching are being explored. 

Investigation Activity during Q2 included the recovery of one council property representing a notional saving of £18,000 to the 
authority.
Counter fraud reviews are taking place during the year, which will focus on areas where there is thought to be significant fraud 
risk. These reviews will look at the fraud prevention measures in place, comparing them with identified best practice and making 
recommendations for improvements where appropriate.

Percentage of internal audit recommendations implemented

Page 14



PM 11

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 19.1 20.5 19.6 20.2 23.4 22.7

Target 18.0 18.0 18.0 18.0 20.0 20.0

Target Met

New Claims and Change of Circumstances
At 22.7 days, the processing time for new claims (PM 11) in the year to date is currently not meeting the set 2018-19 target of 20 
days. Equally, the processing time for change of circumstances (COCs) (PM 12) in the year to date is 6.7 days, again currently not 
meeting the annual set target of 5 days.

Importantly, performance for both measures has improved significantly on that achieved during Q1. Both performance measures 
are calculated as ‘cumulative’ measures, meaning the Q2 outturn is reporting the year to date performance. However, on solely 
analysing Q2 alone, it can be reported that the outturn for PM 11 for the July to September period was 20.2 days, with PM 12 
during the same period recorded as 5.8, both much closer to the established annual targets.

To contextualise the council’s position national averages are available only for Housing Benefit (HB) cases, with the latest available 
national data for the Q1 2018-19 period. 

The national average for new claims in Q1 was 23 days, with the Kent average time at 21 days; the council is therefore operating 
within these averages.

HB COCs at a national level average at 7 days for Q1 2018-19, with the Kent average at 8 days, meaning the council is ahead of the 
respective average performance levels.

To assist the service, the Housing Benefit section has three new Assessment Officers who are currently training. Once the new 
members of the team become more confident, their capabilities will help boost the resources available.

Exception 
Notes

As cumulative figures, the average processing times in the year to date have largely been impacted by the 
vacancies in the team resulting in the 22.7 days (new claims) and 6.7 days (change of circs) outturns. However, 
having undergone relevant training, those successfully recruited officers are now in place and progress is being 
made in reducing outturns where, for Q2 only, new claims were recorded at 20.2 days and change of circs at 5.8 
days. Officers will continue to closely monitor this area on a weekly basis to ensure that the progress made over the 
summer continues.

Policy Commitment 

Revenues and Benefits update

Average time taken to process Housing Benefit / Council Tax new claims (days)
(NB: Cumulative Outturn)

2. Quality frontline services delivered on time and to the right people.

16.0

18.0

20.0

22.0

24.0

26.0

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Outturn

Target

Page 15



PM 12

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 3.7 4.7 5.5 5.1 7.3 6.7

Target 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0

Target Met

Policy Commitment 

Average time taken to process Housing Benefit / Council Tax change of circumstances (days)

See PM 11. 

(NB: Cumulative Outturn)

3. Work to maximise income collection through the robust management and recovery of debts owed to the
    council.

Exception 
Notes

Council Tax 
The Q2 collection rate of 56.53% is on target which is very encouraging given that we have reduced the amount of Council Tax 
Support (CTS) that our residents are entitled to this year by 20%.  However the collection rate usually fluctuates from month to 
month on a yearly basis.

Business Rates 
The Q2 collection rate of 56.2% is below our target of 57.3%. The collection rate usually fluctuates from month to month on a 
yearly basis, the team will continue in its efforts to work towards matching the year-end target of 99%.

HB Overpayments
The Q2 total raised housing benefit overpayments is £386,855. This is less than the Q2 2017/18 outturn which was £571,557. 

The Q2 total of housing benefit overpayments recovered is £354,419.  This figure is slightly higher than what we recovered in Q2 
2017/18 (£328,234).                                                                                                                                                                                                  
The council's Management Team continues to receive monthly updates from council services regarding the levels of outstanding 
debt across the authority.  The Corporate Debt Working Group continues to focus on addressing the overall debt levels across the 
council and looking at corporate debt solutions, with a current work stream considering the methods of payment utilised by the 
council.  
The council has commenced a project to implement software to provide a single view of debt as a means to enabling greater focus 
of the recovery resources of the council and to better support customers who have multiple debts with the council.

0

2

4

6

8

10

1

Outturn

Target

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Outturn

Target

Page 16



PM 9 (NB: Cumulative Outturn)

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 29.4% 57.0% 84.4% 97.0% 29.1% 56.5%

Target 29.1% 56.5% 84.1% 97.0% 29.1% 56.5%

Target Met

PM 10 (NB: Cumulative Outturn)

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 29.5% 57.1% 83.2% 98.1% 30.1% 56.2%

Target 29.5% 57.3% 83.6% 99.0% 29.5% 57.3%

Target Met

Exception 
Notes

Percentage of NNDR collected

Exception 
Notes

At 56.2%, the cumulative collection rate for NNDR at the end of Q2 was only 1.1% below the stretching target of 
57.3%. Broadly in line with equivalent outturns over the last couple of years, and reflecting the fact that collection 
rates fluctuate on a monthly basis, the team will continue in its efforts to work towards matching the year-end target 
of 99.0%.  

Percentage of council tax collected

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

1

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

1

Outturn

Target

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

80.0%

100.0%

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Outturn

Target

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

80.0%

100.0%

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Outturn

Target

Page 17



PI 42

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn £299,856 £571,557 £699,855 £347,480 £430,384 £386,855

Direction 
of Travel

PI 43

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn £341,154 £328,234 £341,350 £338,698 £418,850 £354,419

Direction 
of Travel

PI 45

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6%

Direction 
of Travel

% of posts involved in shared services arrangements  

4. Deliver on opportunities for the sharing and selling of council services.

Work to implement the shared service for Licensing has continued.  As reported in Q1, the initial implementation date was 
suggested to be 1 November 2018, dependent on a number of factors (system access etc.).  Taking this into account, a revised 
implementation date of 1 January 2019 has been confirmed for the shared service.  Monthly project group meetings have and will 
continue to take place to ensure that all required activities are completed prior to the ‘Go Live’ date.  

The Regulatory Services Manager (formerly the Licensing Manager) has continued to provide managerial support to the Medway 
Licensing Team.  This arrangement was due to cease at the end of October 2018 but will now continue until the full shared service 
is operational.

A report was presented to Full Council on 9 October 2018 to seek authority for the council to accept the formal delegation of the 
Licensing Service from Medway Council.  There is a statutory requirement for Medway Council to formally delegate the delivery of 
the Licensing function to Gravesham, and for Gravesham to formally accept this.

Policy Commitment 

Total amount of housing benefit overpayments recovered

Total amount of housing benefit overpayments raised

Page 18



Policy Commitment 

Over recent years, officers have been working to deliver the savings required as outlined in the Medium-term Financial Strategy 
2016-17 to 2019-20, which identified the funding gap facing the council of £2.5m.  At this stage, it was estimated that, “… from the 
2019-20 financial year, the council will need to save £10,000 per working day (should there be no other changes to income or 
expenditure) in order to bridge the budget gap…”.  This funding gap increased to £2.9m at budget setting 2017-18, primarily 
driven by changes to the design of the New Homes Bonus Scheme.  There is still approximately £800k of savings/income 
generation  initiatives to be implemented required in order to meet the full £2.9m required and work is continuing to deliver these 
initiatives.

Over the course of the past two years, however, there have been a number of further changes which have culminated in the need 
to identify additional savings/income generation initiatives to deliver further savings within the council’s Medium-term Financial 
plan. A detailed report setting out proposals to address this additional funding gap is due to be presented to Cabinet on Monday 
12 November and subsequently to the Overview Scrutiny Committee on 22 November.

5. Continuously review and adapt how we deliver our services to achieve financial efficiencies and improved 
     performance.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee

Date: 15 November 2018

Reporting officer: Mike Bytheway, Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) and 
James Larkin, Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services 
Manager

Subject: Corporate Register of Partnerships 2018-19

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the Performance & Administration Committee of the council’s 
involvement in partnerships that are within the remit of the committee. 

Recommendations:
1. This paper is for information purposes only

1. Introduction

1.1 The council is increasingly working in partnership with local organisations, groups, 
other public, private and ‘third sector’ bodies to achieve its objectives for the local 
community. Partnership working can add many benefits to the delivery of services 
by enabling the council to develop better understanding of the needs of the public 
through shared perspectives. This, in turn, can result in the avoidance of 
duplication, sharing of skills, knowledge and data, securing of additional 
resources, improved service delivery to the customer and improved customer 
satisfaction

1.2 The council has a Corporate Register of Partnerships which provides a central 
record of partnerships in which the council is involved. The register is available on 
the council website and is reviewed and updated on an annual basis; the last 
review took place in October 2018.

1.3 This year a new section has been included on Safeguarding Children and 
Vulnerable Adults, to define how each partnership supports the council’s wider 
Safeguarding commitment.

Page 21 Agenda Item 6



2

2. Performance & Administration Committee

2.1 The current partnerships that most directly relate to the work of the Performance & 
Administration Committee are as follows: 
2.1.1 Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
2.1.2 Revenues & Benefits Shared Management Arrangement

2.2 More detailed information regarding the partnerships above is shown at appendix 
two to enable the committee to develop an understanding of these partnerships 
and the contribution they make to delivering services to the community. 

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Working in Partnership Framework – April 2016

 Corporate Register of Partnerships – October 2018
Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 22



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.  

As a requirement of the council’s Working in Partnership Framework, all potential 
partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements are formally 
considered by the Monitoring Officer to ensure that the legal aspects of proposals 
are taken into account prior to entering into a new arrangement.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

Partnerships and shared working arrangements can present financial and value for 
money savings to the council. The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 
requires all potential partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements to 
be formally considered by the Section 151 Officer to ensure that the financial 
aspects of all proposals are taken into account prior to entering into a new 
partnership.

Risk 
Assessment

Partnership working is becoming more and more prevalent in the work of the 
council and is a key factor in the efficient and effective delivery of services and 
corporate objectives. It is therefore important that the council maintains 
comprehensive information regarding the partnerships it is involved in to enable 
effective consideration of partnership working arrangements as a contribution to the 
achievement of corporate objectives

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Partnership and shared working will potentially contribute to all of the strategic 
objectives of the council.  

Crime and 
Disorder

The full Corporate Register of Partnerships includes information regarding the 
Community Safety Partnership and G-Safe.

Page 23



4

Digital and 
website 
implications

There are no digital and website implications with this report.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

The full Corporate Register of Partnerships includes information regarding the 
Children's Boards that are in operation across the council.

A specific section has been included withing the partnership register this year to 
identify how partnerships contribute to the council's overall Safeguarding 
commitment (if applicable).

Page 24



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Corporate Register of 
Partnerships and Shared 
Working Arrangements

October 2018

Performance and Administration Committee

Page 25



Gravesham Borough Council        - 2 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– October 2018

Introduction
The council maintains a comprehensive register of its partnerships and shared working arrangement that is 
reviewed on an annual basis.  

Partnerships
The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more independent 
bodies to work together to achieve one or more objectives”.

In addition to this, the council also splits the partnership register into ‘Significant’ and ‘Key other partnerships’.  
In order for a partnership to be classified as significant it must meet the following definition:

“a partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £10,000 or greater or one that is 
fundamental to the delivery of a strategic objective within the council’s Corporate Plan.  Without this 
effective partnership therefore, the delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals 
would not occur.”

Shared Working Arrangements
In addition to partnership working, the council also has a number of shared working arrangements in place 
which range from a full-shared service with another local authority to shared manager/officer arrangements.  
The council is currently involved in the following shared working arrangements:

Page Ref. Name of Partnership
3 Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
5 Revenues & Benefits Management Arrangements

Glossary of Terms (Page 7)

Throughout the document, there are a number of terms that are used and it was felt that it would be useful to 
provide a ‘Glossary of Terms’ in order to provide further clarification of some of the terminology used within the 
document.

Page 26



Gravesham Borough Council        - 3 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– October 2018
Name of Partnership Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service

Responsible Officer Stuart Bobby, Director (Corporate Services)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Derek Shelbrooke, Lead Member for Performance and 
Administration

Statutory Status Local authorities statutorily required to have internal audit. 

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 
2016 to provide internal audit, counter Fraud and investigation services to 
Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council. The work of the service 
for Gravesham is driven by an annual plan, agreed with the Finance & Audit 
Committee in March of each year. 
The vision of the service as set out in its Strategy, agreed with the Finance & 
Audit Committee in March 2018, is to “deliver high quality assurance, 
consultancy and counter fraud work to help ensure the authorities meet their 
objectives. We will act as a catalyst for driving positive change, promoting 
improvement, learning and innovation so that we can truly add value. By 
investing in our staff and working to raise our profile, we aim to become the 
default and respected advisor and critical friend at the heart of Medway 
Council and Gravesham Borough Council”.

Expected outcomes The Shared Service has achieved the following outcomes:
 Reduced cost of the Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Service to each 

council, taking into account any reductions in funding arising from the 
introduction of the Single Fraud Investigation Service.

 Increased resilience.
 Increased efficiency through adoption of best working practices and 

sharing of audit and fraud resources.
 Maximising the opportunities presented through sharing a large common 

boundary, and dealing with similar day-to-day issues.

Links to GBC Strategic 
Objectives

Corporate Objective 4: Sound and self-sufficient council

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets 
etc)

The Shared Service has a total of 14 posts, currently staffed by 13FTE. One 
of the three part time officers has recently taken flexible retirement, freeing 
up the remaining hours for a full time post. Recruitment will take place ready 
for the new financial year. 
As set out in the Shared Service agreement, approximately 36% of these 
resources are directed towards delivering the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for 
Gravesham, equivalent to approximately 4.5 FTE (5 FTE when all posts 
filled). 
The Shared Service agreement sets out the budgeted cost to Gravesham for 
2018-19 as £201, 692. 
The team occupy space in the Civic Centre, though all ICT hardware is 
provided by Medway Council. 

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council and Medway Council.

Governance arrangements The Shared Service Agreement in place sets out the governance of the 
service; 
 S151 responsibilities in relation to the provision of internal audit have 

been delegated from Gravesham to Medway. 
 Schedules set out scope of services, service standards, reporting 

requirements and financial contributions. 

Page 27



Gravesham Borough Council        - 4 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– October 2018
Financial reporting 
arrangements and 
timeframe for reporting

Gravesham Borough Council is invoiced on a quarterly basis by Medway 
Council as host of the Shared Service. 
The expenditure budget for this arrangement is monitored through the 
council’s internal budget monitoring processes and reported via the 
established financial reporting arrangements.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

The Shared Service has established a suite of performance measures and 
arrangements to report on the outputs and performance of the team to the 
council’s Management Team and Finance & Audit Committee on a quarterly 
basis.  
The council’s Annual Governance Review and Statement considers the 
effectiveness of internal audit arrangements. 

Risk Assessment The Shared Service has a business plan and risk register in place for the 
delivery of its services. 

Safeguarding Obligations There are no direct safeguarding obligations for this service; however, the 
assurance activity undertaken by the service does look at various services 
and their management of their safeguarding obligations. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

1 June 2015: Cabinet 
approval given for the 
partnership to become a 
full shared service.
1 March 2016: Shared 
Service launched. 

Date 
Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Page 28



Gravesham Borough Council        - 5 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– October 2018

Name of Partnership Revenues & Benefits Management Arrangement 

Responsible Officer Stuart Bobby, Director (Corporate Services)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Derek Shelbrook, Lead Member for Performance and 
Administration

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

To jointly manage the Revenues & Benefits Teams of Gravesham 
Borough Council and Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council (TMBC) to 
provide savings while maintaining an excellent service.

Expected outcomes The key aim of the partnership is to provide a high quality, value for money 
service that improves benefits administration performance and maximises 
revenues collection rates whilst maintaining high levels of customer 
satisfaction.  
The joint management arrangement is already delivering financial savings 
in the cost of providing the service at each council.
It is also anticipated that the joint management arrangement will increase 
the resilience for the two authorities through staff being able to help out at 
either authority as required.  The ability to re-direct resources between the 
two authorities has already proved advantageous to each authority in 
helping to manage peaks and troughs in workload.
Other benefits will be the ability to continually take the best practice 
arrangements from each council which should help to ensure the efficient 
delivery of a high quality service.

Links to GBC Strategic 
Objectives

Corporate Objective 4: Sound and self-sufficient council  

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Joint management arrangement. 
Mike Bytheway, Service Manager Revenues & Benefits at GBC, now 
manages the Revenues & Benefits teams at both sites on a 50:50 basis. 
The Service Manager Revenues & Benefits remains on the GBC payroll – 
but half of the costs are recharged to TMBC.
Glen Pritchard, Principal Revenues Officer at TMBC, now manages the 
Revenues teams at both sites on a 50:50 basis. The Principal Revenues 
Officer remains on the TMBC payroll – but half of the costs are recharged 
to GBC.  
GBC Assets – whilst onsite at GBC, the Service Manager Revenues & 
Benefits and the Principal Revenues Officer utilises desk space, IT 
computer network and telephone resources.

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council and Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council

Governance arrangements Partnership Agreement in place (signed by both partners and the 
secondee) which sets out:
 The agreed secondment arrangements for the officer involved 

including details of the services that are to be provided under the 
terms of the agreement;

 How secondment costs are to be calculated and shared between the 
two partners;

 The responsibilities of each partner in relation to management of the 
secondee;

 Arrangements for maintaining confidentiality of information held by 
each partner; and

 Arrangements for the resolution of conflicts/disputes and the 
termination of the secondment arrangement.

Page 29



Gravesham Borough Council        - 6 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– October 2018

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The cost of the arrangement is included in the Partnership Agreements, 
TMBC agree to pay 50% of the cost of employing the Service Manager 
(Revenues and Benefits) whilst GBC agree to pay 50% of the cost of 
employing the Revenues Manager.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

A Partnership Agreement is in place to set the parameters for the joint-
management arrangement and performance monitoring is completed on a 
weekly basis and issued to the relevant directors on a weekly basis.  The 
Partnerships are subject to on-going review by the relevant directors at 
each authority. 

Risk Assessment Potential risk that the Revenues and Benefits Section may suffer some 
reduction in performance due to the managers not being on-site full time. 
However, they can access GBC IT systems from TMBC and staff are 
aware that they can be contacted at either authority. It is anticipated that 
this risk is over-compensated for by the other efficiencies derived from the 
partnership. Monthly performance reports are circulated to management to 
highlight any major areas of concern to enable action to be taken as 
necessary and quarterly performance management information is provided 
to Members.

Safeguarding Obligations N/A

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

12 January 2009 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Page 30



Gravesham Borough Council        - 7 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– October 2018

Glossary of Terms
To provide assistance to officers, Members and members of the public when reading the council’s 
Corporate Register of Partnerships, a Glossary of Terms has been developed to provide additional 
information about the meaning of some of the words included within the register.

Term Used Meaning

Annual Governance 
Review

This is a review that is undertaken each year in order to assess the council’s overall 
governance arrangements.

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Plan

The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan is a document which sets out the work plan for the 
team for the forthcoming financial year.

Business Plan A business plan is a formal statement of a set of business goals, the reasons they 
are believed attainable, and the plan for reaching those goals. 

Constitution A document which sets out the fundamental rules governing the conduct of the 
partnership.  It may also include details of the concept and structure of the 
partnership. 

Financial Conduct 
Authority

The Financial Conduct Authority is the conduct regulator for 56,000 financial 
services firms and financial markets in the UK and the prudential regulator for over 
18,000 of those firms.

FTE Full-time Equivalent (FTE) – the number of full-time equivalent staff that are working 
in the partnership.

Partnership 
Agreement

An agreement between the relevant partners setting out how the partnership will 
operate and the commitment each will make to the partnership.

S151 
Responsibilities

These are the statutory responsibilities that are designated to the council’s Chief 
Financial Officer, as defined by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA).

Service Level 
Agreement (SLA)

A document which is agreed between the partners and records a common 
understanding about services, priorities and responsibilities and clearly defines the 
"level of service" expected through targets etc.

Shared Service 
Agreement

This is a document which is signed by those authorities participating in a share 
service and sets out the governance arrangements for the shared service.

Significant 
partnership

A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £10,000 or greater or 
one that is fundamental to the delivery of a strategic objective within the council’s 
Corporate Plan.  Without this effective partnership therefore, the delivery of 
Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur. 

Steering Group A steering group is a group of senior officers/partners who oversee the delivery of a 
project or partnership initiative. 

Terms of Reference A document which describes the purpose and structure of a partnership along with 
basis for making future decisions and for confirming or developing a common 
understanding of the scope among stakeholders. 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Two 2018-19 (July – September 2018)
	2.  P&A Committee - Q2 2018-19 - Appendix 2.pdf
	Q2 2018-19


	6 Corporate Register of Partnerships 2018-19
	Appendix Two - P&A Register extract




